IN THE UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
FOR THE FI FTH Cl RCU T

No. 93-7648

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
vVer sus

ALVI N WAYNE HEACOCK, JR., al/k/a
"Johnny B. WIllians,"

Def endant - Appel | ant.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court for the
Southern District of M ssissippi

(August 24, 1994)
Before KING JOLLY, and DAVIS, G rcuit Judges.
E. GRADY JOLLY, G rcuit Judge:

Al vin Wayne Heacock, Jr. appeals his crimnal convictions for
various illegal ganbling rel ated of fenses. He argues el even points
of error, but nost have little nerit. W therefore focus our
attention on (A Heacock's sufficiency of the evidence challenge to
his conviction under 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1955--operation of an illegal
ganbling business--and (B) Heacock's legal challenge to his
conviction under 18 U S . C. 8§ 1952--interstate travel in aid of
racketeering. W hold that the judgnent of conviction is error-

free, and therefore affirm



I

Heacock was a bookie in Hattiesburg, M ssissippi. Heacock
controlled a fairly large ganbling operation, wth severa
"associ ates" operating bookmaking offices for him in several
cities. Many of Heacock's ganbling partners testified at tria
concerni ng Heacock's ganbling business. The evidence showed how
bets were namde, what types of bets were nade, and how noney was
nmoved between cities. Further, there was testinony to show that
Heacock and hi s associ ates took del i berate steps to avoi d t he paper
trails of the ganbling operations, that Heacock had a practice of
"hi di ng" noney--in the floor at one of his apartnents and in alias-
named safety deposit boxes--and, finally, that Heacock's real
profits differed significantly fromhis reported profits.

In addition to the testinony fromHeacock's ganbling conrades,
t he governnent produced evidence froma police search of Heacock's
resi dence that was conducted on Decenber 17, 1990. As a result of
that search--and as the result of a 1985 raid on Heacock--the
governnent obtained a great deal of evidence that Heacock was
conducting illegal ganbling. Part of the evidence included
cassette recordings of illegal bets being nade. Further, the
governnent i ntroduced i nto evi dence pol i ce phot ographs of the scene
at Heacock's residence. 1In any event, this generally overwhel m ng
evi dence concerni ng Heacock's ganbling operations, served as the
basis for Heacock's indictnment in October of 1992 and his ultimte

convi cti on.



I

Heacock was indicted in the Northern District of M ssissipp
in an 11-count indictnment charging: a schene to conceal fromthe
IRS in sixteen different ways the nature and extent of his
bookmaki ng operation between 1980 and 1992 in violation of 18
US C 8§ 1001 (Count 1); a conspiracy to inpede the IRS from
| earning his sources and ampunts of ganbling inconme and his cash
transactions in violation of 18 U.S.C. § 371 (Count 11); conducting
an illegal ganbling business with five or nore persons from
Cctober 2, 1987 to January 22, 1988, in violation of 18 U S.C. 8§
1955 (Count 2); wusing the mail on four occasions to distribute
ganbling proceeds in violation of 18 U S.C. § 1952 (Counts 3-6);
and, finally, laundering proceeds of State R CO violations
i nvol ving ganbling in violation of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1956 (Counts 7-10).

On Heacock's notion under Fed. R Civ. P. 18, trial was noved
fromOxford, M ssissippi to Hattiesburg, his city of residence, 250
mles away in the Southern District of Mssissippi. After trial--
conducted from May 24 through June 2, 1993--the jury convicted
Heacock on all counts. On Cctober 6, 1993, the district judge,
after finding Heacock had threatened the famly of the detective
i nvestigating him had understated his income by over $600, 000. 00
and was still concealing substantial assets, neverthel ess, departed
downwar d substantially fromthe gui delines and sentenced Heacock to
serve 60 nonths concurrently on each count and to pay a $450, 000

fine. Heacock filed a tinely notice of appeal.



11

A
On appeal, Heacock argues that there was i nsufficient evidence
to support his conviction under 18 U S.C. 8 1955 for operating an
illegal ganmbling business. |In review ng challenges to sufficiency
of the evidence, this court views the evidence in the |ight nost
favorable to the jury verdict and affirnms if a rational trier of
fact could have found that the governnment proved all essential

el ements of the crine beyond a reasonable doubt. United States v.

Rui z, 987 F.2d 243, 249 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 114 S.C. 163;

126 L.Ed.2d 123 (1993). Al credibility determ nations and
reasonable inferences are to be resolved in favor of the jury's
verdict. See id.

Section 1955 defines "illegal ganbling business" as

a ganbl i ng busi ness whi ch--

(i) is a violation of the law of a State or
political subdivision in which it is conducted;

(i1) involves five or nore persons who conduct,
fi nance, manage, supervise, direct, or own all or part of
such busi ness; and

(iii1) has been or remains in substantially
continuous operation for a period in excess of thirty
days or has a gross revenue of $2,000 in a single day.

18 U.S.C. 8§ 1955(b) (1) (enphasis added). Heacock argues that the
governnent failed to prove that five or nore persons were invol ved
in aiding the conduct of Heacock's illegal ganbling business
bet ween Cctober 2, 1987 and January 22, 1988, as charged in the
i ndi ct nent . We find, however, that the evidence sufficiently

established the "jurisdictional five."



To be counted as a part of the jurisdictional five, a person
or entity nust have provi ded services "necessary or helpful" to the
ganbl i ng operation. Participants have included everything from
| ayof f bettors! and line services? to waitresses who serve drinks.

Only reqgqular bettors are excluded from the count. See United

States v. Boyd, 566 F.2d 929, 934-35 (5th Gir. 1978).
(1)

The record reveals that in addition to Heacock, at |east four

other persons were involved in the operation of the illegal
ganbling business. The first was Dr. Jeffrey Topping, who was a
psychol ogy professor at M ssissippi State University in Starkville,
M ssi ssippi, and who testified that from1980 until ganbling raids
on his hone in March 1988, he operated a bookmaking office for
Heacock in Starkville. Heacock received his bets from"associ at es”

i ke Topping--a service that no doubt was necessary or helpful to

A bookie is not hinself a bettor, but rather is a businessman
who makes his profit from collecting a percentage, usually 10%
from the |loosing bettors who bet through him Thi s percent age

collected by the bookmaker is called "juice.”" In order to keep
fromrisking his own noney, a bookmaker nust take bets from an
equal nunber of wi nning and | osing bettors. That way, he wll

collect 110%of the anmount he nust pay out. Wen a booki e has nore
bets on one side, and needs nore on the other in order to bal ance
hi s books, the bookie wll "layoff" bets to another booki e.

2A booknmaker utilizes a "line" or point spread on each gane
for which he is taking bets. As previously noted, the bookmaker
must have exactly the sanme anount bet on each side of the line so
that he can collect his full percentage charge fromeach | osi ng bet
placed with him Further, it is inportant for bookmakers to have
up-to-the-mnute, accurate lines so that bettors cannot play one
bookmaker agai nst another who nmay be giving a different |ine.



Heacock' s operation--and no one di sputes that Toppi ng was i nvol ved
during the count two period. Heacock and Toppi ng make two of the
jurisdictional five.

(2)

Next, United Productions, aline service fromLas Vegas can be
counted as the third nenber of the jurisdictional five.® According
to testinony from bookmaki ng expert Tonmmy Patterson, up-to-date
professional |ine services are essential to a | arge bookmaker |ike
Heacock in operating a profitable ganbling business. Uni t ed
Productions was just such a service, providing "up to the second,
up to the mnute" lines on current ganes to anyone who call ed t hem
on their "900" nunber. An analysis of Heacock's | ong-di stance tol
records reflected 64 separate calls from Heacock's telephone
nunbers to United Production's "900" nunber |ine service during the
count two tine period. United Productions was an essential part of
Heacock's ganbling operations and is the third nenber of the
jurisdictional five.

(3)

The fourth nenber of the jurisdictional five is another |ine

service fromlLas Vegas, known as J&J Sports Services ("J&"), owned

by Christine Fenton. Fenton testified at trial, and she exhi bited

a ready famliarity with Heacock and his business. She knew
[Tl he regular direct exchange of . . . . line information
can connect ot herw se i ndependent ganbling operations."” See United

States v. Boyd, 566 F.2d at 935 (5th Cr. 1978).




Heacock as "Wayne - # 793," along-tine client, and her only client
in Hattiesburg, M ssissippi. She produced business records show ng
Heacock's address in Hattiesburg, and she testified that Heacock
used her service in all seasons except summer baseball season,
whi ch was consistent with the testinony of other w tnesses who knew
Heacock' s ganbling practi ces.

Heacock chal | enges J&J as a nenber of the jurisdictional five,
however, arguing that there is no evidence to show that he used
J&)'s line service during the count two tinme period, from Qctober
1987 t hrough January 1988. W find that the evidence is sufficient
to support the conclusion that J& provided service to Heacock
t hroughout the relevant period. First, there was direct evidence
from Fenton herself that Heacock began using her service in
Septenber of 1986, "[t]o the best of [her] know edge."

Fenton's testinony was supported by ot her evidence t hat showed
t hat Heacock used J& both before and after the relevant tine
period, suggesting that it was far nore likely than not that J&J
was al so involved during the relevant period of tinme, inasmuch as
no reason was offered for the exclusion of such a gap in tine.
Fenton testified that Heacock paid her three hundred dollars per
month for use of her line service (which was different fromUnited
Productions who charged its custoners via a "900" toll tel ephone
nunber), and one of Heacock's forner assistants recalled that
Heacock paid three hundred dollars per nonth for |ine updates

during the tinme that she worked for him before the count two



period. An actual three hundred dollar noney order from "Wayne -
#793" was produced as docunentary evidence to show that Heacock
used J&J's service after the relevant tine period.

Finally, there was testinony explaining that it would nake
sense for a bookmaker to have nore than one |ine at any given tine
period, for exanple, both J& and United Productions. In sum
there was both direct and circunstantial evidence to show that
Heacock used J&J Sports Services during the count two period. W
find that evidence sufficient to support the conclusion that J&J
Sports Services was the fourth nenber of the jurisdictional five.*

(4)

The fifth nenber of the jurisdictional five can easily be
found in reviewng the testinony about a nman naned Benny Cook.
Cook, w thout dispute, took tel ephone bets using the nane "Johnny"
at the tinme of the 1990 search of Heacock's residence. Bookie M ke

Sheffield and bettor Russell Stogner testified that during the

4'n further arguing that the evidence was insufficient to
conclude that J& provided service to him during the count two
period, Heacock points to the absence of any rel evant docunentary
pr oof . More specifically, Heacock points to the lack of phone
records showing calls to J&J. Because the other evidence
sufficient in itself to support the conclusion that J& was
i nvol ved in Heacock's ganbling business throughout the count two
period, it is irrelevant that the governnent did not produce yet
anot her pi ece of docunentary evidence. W note, however, that the
governnent offered a perfectly reasonabl e expl anation for the | ack
of phone records: Unlike United Productions, which charged callers
via a "900" tel ephone nunber, J& charged a nonthly flat rate.
According to the governnent, custoners of J& then called an "800"
nunber to reach the service, and "800" nunbers do not appear on
phone bills.



count two period a man ot her than Heacock t ook t el ephone bets using
the nanme "Johnny." Further, Sheffield testified that the man
called "Johnny WIllians" was really Bennie Cook. It is true that
when Sheffield was asked how he knew that Johnny was Bennie, he
responded in a |l ess than coherent fashion,® but the direct evidence
i's nonetheless sufficient to find that Bennie Cook took tel ephone
bets for Heacock, using the nane Johnny WIIlians, during the count

two period.®

The follow ng exchange took place on direct exam nation of
Sheffiel d:

Q Do you know who Johnny WIllians is?

A Yes.

Q Wo is it?

A Benni e Cook.

Q And how do you know t hat ?

A | don't --

Q Did you ever neet hinf

A No. | talked to him over the phone. Then |

finally nmet Bennie and Johnny, yeah. He told ne
t hat was who had been answering the phone.

Q Wio told you that was who had been answering the
phone?

A | think Bennie did.

W could continue this count if needed: For exanple, M ke
Sheffield, hinself a booknmaker, testified, unequivocally, that he
pl aced | ayoff bets with Heacock during the count two period.

Q . . . I"mgoing to ask you two questions: First of
all, did you ever personally bet wth Wyne
Heacock?

A Yes.

Q Did you ever lay off bets to balance out your
booki e business with hin?

A At tinmes.

Q At tinmes. Okay. Specifically, | want to ask you
for the time period October 2nd, 1987, through
March of 1988 did you ever lay off bets with the
def endant during that period?

A At different tines, yes.



In sum we find sufficient evidence to support the concl usion
t hat Wayne Heacock, Jeffrey Toppi ng, United Productions, J& Sports
Services, and Benny Cook all participated in Heacock's illega
ganbling business by providing him with necessary or hel pful
services during the period fromGQctober 2, 1987 t hrough January 22,
1988, and we therefore affirmHeacock's fel ony ganbling conviction
under 18 U.S.C. § 1955.

B
The next issue presented is one of first inpression in this

circuit: Are intrastate mailings sufficient to invoke federal

jurisdiction under 18 U.S.C. § 1952. This question is one of |aw,

which we will review de novo. In re Allison, 960 F.2d 481, 483

(5th Gir. 1992).

Heacock was convi cted on counts three, four, five, and six of

the indictnent for using the mail in the aid of a racketeering

Q At different tines?

A Yes.

Q But including that period of tinme?

A Yes.

Q And what would be the reason for you laying off
w th hinf

A If he had a better nunber on a gane or if | was
overl|l oaded on a gane, | would call and place a bet
t hrough him

G ven that Sheffield testified that he regularly placed | ayoff bets
with Heacock, and did so during the count two period, Sheffield
could be counted as the fifth participant in Heacock's illega
ganbl i ng busi ness.

-10-



enterprise. Specifically, Heacock was charged with and convicted
of

W llfully caus[ing] the use of the United States mail,
wth intent to distribute the proceeds of a business
enterprise involving ganbling, that is defendant, as
apart of his bookmaking operation, did direct Jeff
Topping [his associate in Starkville, Mssissippi] to
send . . . ganbling proceeds to a booknmaker in Natchez,
IVB.

Heacock argues that he cannot be convicted under 18 U. S.C. § 1952,

as a matter of law, for any intrastate mailings.

The mailings in question occurred between October 1987 and
January 1988. At that tinme, section 1952 provided:

Whoever travels ininterstate or foreign conmerce or uses
any facilityininterstate or foreign conmerce, including
the mail, with intent to--
(1) distribute the proceeds of any unlawf ul
activity; or
(2) commt any crinme of violence to further any
unl awful activity; or
(3) otherw se pronote, nmanage, establish, carry on,

or facilitate t he pronoti on, managenent ,
establishnent, or carrying on, of any unlawf ul
activity,

and thereafter perforns or attenpts to performany of the
acts specified in subparagraphs (1), (2), and (3), shal
be fined not nore than $10, 000 or inprisoned for not nore
than five years, or both.

18 U.S.C. § 1952(a) (enphasis added).’

‘Section 1952 was anended in 1990 by relocating the reference
to the mail as follows:

Whoever travels ininterstate or forei gn conmerce or uses

the mail or any facility in interstate or foreign
commerce with intent to .

-11-



The Second and Sixth G rcuits have addressed this statutory
guesti on and have reached opposite conclusions.® The Sixth Crcuit
in Barry concluded that an intrastate mailing was not sufficient to
i nvoke federal jurisdiction. Barry, 888 F.2d at 1095. The Sixth
Circuit found it significant that the statute nade reference to
facilities in interstate commerce, as opposed to facilities of

interstate commerce. The Sixth G rcuit concluded that the word

of" merely "identifies the facilities referred to," whereas, the

word "in" "require[s] a particular use of a facility." 1d. The
Sixth Crcuit also found support for its reading in the legislative
hi story of the act.

The Second Circuit in R ccardelli, on the other hand,

concluded that "Congress intended any use of the United States
mails to be sufficient to invoke federal jurisdiction under the

Travel Act." Ri ccardelli, 749 F.2d at 830. The Second Circuit

reasoned that a plain reading of the Act revealed that the mailing
did not need to be interstate: "The positioning of the phrase
“including the mail' in the statute singles out the mail for
special treatnent and thus consistent wth the historical
understanding of the United States nmail, equates the use of the
mail with the use of other facilities of interstate and foreign
comerce; it does not indicate that the mailing itself nust be

interstate.” ld. at 861. The Second Circuit, like the Sixth

8See U.S. v. Barry, 888 F.2d 1092 (6th Cir. 1989); U.S. v.
Riccardelli, 794 F.2d 829 (2d Cr. 1986).

-12-



Crcuit, found that the legislative history of the statute
supported its reading of the statute. Id. In sum the Second
Circuit found the phrase "intrastate mails" to be an "oxynoronic
juxtaposition.” 1d. at 830.

We agree with the result reached by Second GCrcuit: Section
1952 crimnalizes any use of the United States mail with the intent
to distribute the proceeds of an unlawful activity. Section 1952
puni shes "whoever . . . uses any facility ininterstate or foreign
comerce, including the mail." Qur reading of this | anguage | eads
us to conclude that the use of "the mail" clearly enbodi es and
includes the use of the United States Post Ofice, which is a
"facility in interstate comrerce." In other words, whenever a
person uses the United States Post Ofice to deposit, to transport,
and to deliver parcels, noney, or other material by neans of the
mai |, that person clearly and unm stakably has used a "facility in

interstate conmerce," irrespective of the intrastate destination of
the itemmiled. Accordingly, we hold that any use of the United

States mails in this case is sufficient to invoke jurisdiction

- 13-



under 18 U.S.C. § 1952,° notwi thstanding the intrastate destination
of the mailings.?®
C
Finally, in addition to the nore substantive conplaints
di scussed above, Heacock argues that the district court commtted
a gaggle of other errors. We have reviewed each of Heacock's
argunent s and have concluded that the district court conmtted no
reversible error in the present case. Accordingly, we affirmthe
district court on all of the follow ng issues:
(1)
First, Heacock conplains that the prosecutor told the jury in

opening statenent that Heacock furnished drugs to his ex-

This holding is consistent with our opinion in United States
v. Edelman, 873 F.2d 791 (5th G r. 1989). In Edel man, although we
did not specifically address the issue that is before us today, we
assuned that the mailing in that case i nvoked federal jurisdiction,
W t hout even discussing whether the mailing was "interstate" or
"Intrastate." See id. at 794-95.

®Heacock also argues on this point that the evidence was
insufficient to showthat he caused the mailings. It is clear from
the record, however, that Heacock did instruct Topping to send the
particul ar checks. Thus, there is no |lack of evidence to support
the finding that Heacock caused the exchanges. Further, Heacock
argues that Topping never testified that Heacock told himto nai
the checks, only to send them The governnent must only show,
however, that the mail was actually used--there is no requirenent
t hat Heacock intended for the mail to be used or even that he knew
the mail was used. See Edelman, 873 F.2d at 795. It is clear from
the record that the mail was used in the present case, thus, there
is sufficient evidence to uphold Heacock's convictions under 8§
1952.

-14-



girlfriend, Lisa Cunningham ! Heacock says that this statenment was
totally false. Further, according to Heacock, the court's curative
action was ineffective and inplied that Heacock was using drugs.
The essence of the governnent's opposition to this appeal is that,
to beginwith, there was no prosecutorial m sconduct in naking this
true statenment, and that given the overwhelm ng nature of the
evi dence, an isol ated nention of drugs had no i npact what soever on
the outcone of the trial

A nmotion for mstrial based on an al |l eged prejudicial coment
by the prosecution, is reviewed under the abuse of discretion

st andar d. US Vv. Bentley-Smth, 2 F.3d 1368, 1378 (5th Cr.

1993). The test for assessing clains of prejudice from
prosecutorial conduct is (1) the degree of initial prejudice; (2)
the effectiveness of corrective neasures; and (3) the strength of

the governnent's other evidence. U.S. v. Georgalis, 631 F.2d 1199

(1980), and U.S. v. Senensohn, 421 F.2d 1206 (2d Cr. 1970). 1In

the light of the governnent's overwhel mi ng evidence of guilt, and
in the light of the fact that the jury heard only one sentence
concerning drugs from the prosecutor, followed by a very clear
instruction that drugs were irrelevant to the case, it is clear to
us that the district court did not abuse its discretion by failing
to award a mstrial in this instance, even if we assune that the

prosecutor's statenment anounted to prosecutorial m sconduct.

“Hi s actual statenent was that "[Heacock] introduced
[ Cunni ngham] to narcotics."

-15-



(2)

Heacock' s next conpl aint of prosecutorial m sconduct involves
a revolver. In the 1990 search, according to Heacock, the police
renoved a revolver from a |lower desk drawer, placed it into an
upper desk drawer, and partially opened the drawer so that they
could nmake a photograph of the revolver. At trial, Heacock
objected to Oficer Cox's testifying that there was a revolver in
the desk drawer, and the court sustained Heacock's objection. At
that tinme, the prosecutor inforned the court that photographs of
the revolver in the desk were included in a series of photographs
of the 1990 search, and asked, "Should we cut out the ones with the
firearnms in then?" The court responded, "Yes."

The phot ographs were | ater introduced into evidence. |Instead
of removing all of the pictures that included the revolver,
however, the prosecutor "anended" one picture by cutting the
revol ver out of the photograph. The phot ographs, including the
"amended" one, were imediately published to the jury. Heacock
moved for a mstrial, and, in response, the "anmended" photograph
was W thdrawn fromthe exhibits.

Again, the test for assessing clains of prosecutorial
m sconduct require that we determ ne whet her the all eged m sconduct
was prejudicial in the light of the other evidence fromtrial. W
conclude that the introduction of one "anmended" photograph, which

was | ater withdrawn fromthe exhibits, could not be prejudicial in

-16-



this case with such an overwhel mng set of incrimnating facts.
There was no abuse of discretion here.
(3)

Heacock next argues that all of the evidence introduced at the
trial that was obtained from the 1985 search of his residence
shoul d have been suppressed because the i ndi ct nent was brought nore
than five years after the evidence was obtained. See 18 U S.C. 8§

3282.1 W have previously held, however, that section 3282 "is a

defense to prosecution, not a rule of evidence." United States v.
Ashdown, 509 F.2d 793, 798 (5th Cr. 1975). Furthernore, the
statute of limtations does not begin to run on a "schene" crine
(count one charged a schene to conceal in violation of 18 U S.C. §
1001), until each overt act constituting the schene has occurred,
because the case cannot be brought and proved until that tine.

United States v. Grard, 744 F.2d 1170 (1984) (if any overt act

that furthers the purpose of a conspiracy occurs wthin the
limtations period, including an act of conceal nent, then the

indictnment is tinely).

12Section 3282 provi des that

Except as otherw se expressly provided by law, no
person shall be prosecuted, tried, or punished for any
of fense, not capital, unless the indictnent is found or
the information is instituted within five years next
after such offense shall have been commtted.

18 U.S.C. § 3282.

-17-



In the present case, the prosecution coupl ed the 1985 evi dence
t hat Heacock was i nvol ved in ganbling with ot her proof to showt hat
Heacock was concealing fromthe IRS in sixteen different ways the
nature and extent of his bookmaking operation between 1980 and
1992. Thus, in this case where the evidence from before the
limtations period bears on the existence of the schene to defraud,

the evidence was properly admtted at trial. U.S. v. Ashdown, 509

F.2d at 797-98.13
(4)

Heacock next argues that his Fifth Anmendnent right against
self-incrimnation was violated when his own tape recordings of
betting activity and his federal tax returns were introduced into
evi dence agai nst him He argues that the tape recordings were
daily records of his ganbling activity, which the governnent
required himto keep, and that his tax returns were al so docunents

that the governnent conpelled himto prepare and file.

BBHeacock admits that the evidence was properly admtted in
count 11 of the indictnment, which was a conspiracy to inpede the
IRS fromlearning his sources and anpunts of ganbling inconme and
his cash transactions in violation of 18 U S.C. § 371. He asserts,
however, that the evidence fromthe 1985 search should have been
suppressed for the purposes of count 1 (which was a schene to
conceal from the IRS in sixteen different ways the nature and
extent of Heacock's bookmaki ng operation between 1980 and 1992 in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 1001), citing U.S. v. Smth, 740 F.2d 734
(9th Cr. 1984), for the proposition that the five-year limtations
period does apply to 8 1001. That case is properly distinguished
from the present case, however, because it related to the false
statenents section of 8 1001, and the present case relates to
continuing schenes to defraud.

-18-



It is well settled that in order to assert a Fifth Amendnent
claimof this nature, Heacock woul d have been required to assert a
privilege at the tinme he kept his records and filed his return

U.S. v. Haydel, 649 F.2d 1152, 1159 n. 13 (5th Gr. 1981). To put

Heacock's argunent in its best light, however, we wll construe
this claimas an appeal under 26 U. S.C. § 4424, pursuant to which

Congress granted taxpayers immunity fromprosecutorial use of such

tax information, except "in connection with the . . . crimna
enforcenent of any tax inposed by . . . title [26]." 26 U S.C. 8§
4424(c).

Nonet hel ess, Heacock's claimstill falls short of requiring
reversal of the district court. First, as to the disputed tape

recordi ngs, Heacock stipulated that his recording and mai ntai ni ng
of the tapes were not required by law. As such, there can be no §

4424 violation. See U S. v. Aucoin, 964 F.2d 1492, 1500 (5th Cr

1992) . Accordingly, the district court nmade no error in
determ ning that these tape recordings of bets were not kept for
| awf ul purpose but for unlawful purpose of "settling up”" wth
bettors.

Second, with respect to the introduction of Heacock's ganbling
tax returns (as well as the tape recordings), 26 US C § 4424
provi des that required records can be used "in connection with the

crimnal enforcenent of any tax inposed by . . . title [26]."
Count one of the instant indictnent (which was a schene to concea

fromthe IRS in sixteen different ways the nature and extent of

-19-



Heacock' s bookmaki ng operati on between 1980 and 1992 in violation
of 18 U.S.C. § 1001) and count el even of the indictnment (which was
a conspiracy to inpede the IRS from learning his sources and
anounts of ganbling inconme and his cash transactions in violation
of 18 U.S.C. 8§ 371) both constitute such a crim nal enforcenent of
a tax. Accordingly, the judgnent of the district court is affirned
on this issue.
(5)

The next issue presented is whether the district court abused
its discretion in failing to apply the knock and announce rule to
excl ude evi dence seized in the 1990 search of Heacock's residence.
According to Heacock, in the 1990 search the police knocked his
door down even though the police admtted that they did not fear
any injury from Heacock and that they had no particular reason to

bel i eve that he personally woul d destroy evidence. 1t is further

undi sputed that the police officers did not announce t he purpose of
their search prior to knocking the door down.?!® Heacock argues,

therefore, that the evidence obtained in the 1990 search should

14The prosecution did establish that the police knew Heacock
was hone, and that he did not respond to their knock, and that in
such circunstances evidence is often being destroyed.

®Detective Lt. Richard Cox testified about that search that
he first knocked on the door, yelled "police" |oud enough for
Heacock to hear, and when there was not response after a reasonabl e
wait, he had O ficer Ladnier "hit" the door, but Ladnier bounced
of f. Cox then pounded several tinmes on the door, repeatedly
yelling "police, police, police," but still no one responded, so he
had Ladnier, a |arge man, knock it open.

-20-



have been suppressed because of the violation of the knock and
announce rul e.

There is no question but that 18 U S.C. 8 3109 requires that
the police knock and give notice of authority and purpose before
forcible entry to one's prem ses.® The governnent, however, points
out that the 1990 search of Heacock's ganbling prem ses was by

state officers under a state warrant, and, argues that the search

was not subject to federal procedures nerely because one federal
agent was present. The governnent further argues--and the district
court concluded--that the state search was constitutionally
"reasonabl e" because the officers knocked and announced their
presence several times before forcible entry, whi ch was
acconplished to prevent destruction of evidence.

In viewof the fact that 18 U S.C § 3109 has no application to
a state search, the question becones whet her the Fourth Amendnent
itself requires that police announce their "purpose" before
forcible entry. It is clear that the ultimte question under the
Constitution is sinply whether the search is "reasonable.” G ven

the fact that the police clearly made their presence known before

8Section 3109 provi des:

The officer may break open any outer or inner door or
w ndow of a house, or any part of a house, or anything
therein, to execute a search warrant, if, after notice of his
authority and purpose, he is refused admttance or when
necessary to liberate hinself or a person aiding himin the
execution of the warrant.

18 U.S.C. § 31009.
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taking any forcible action, and given the possibility that a | onger
wait mght well have resulted in the destruction of evidence, we
cannot say that the district court abused its discretion in
determ ning that the search in this case was reasonabl e.
(6)

Heacock, in an argunent that m ght be described as | acking
| egal reasoning, contends that the evidence seized in the 1990
search should be suppressed because the state had no ownership
claimto the property. It seens that the seized evi dence was al so
the subject of a civil forfeiture proceeding in state court, and
the state court had ordered the civil forfeiture proceeding
di sm ssed. Heacock argues, therefore, that the police had no right
to possess his personal property since no crimnal charges were
pendi ng, and had no right to copy any tapes or keep any other itens
in the face of the court order dismssing the civil forfeiture
pr oceedi ng. W reject this contention because Heacock has
presented absolutely no authority in his one-page argunent on this
poi nt. Consequently, this point has effectively been abandoned f or

t he purposes of this appeal. L&A Contracting v. Southern Concrete

Services, 7 F.3d 106, 113 (5th Cr. 1994).
(7)
Finally, Heacock next argues that the governnent shoul d have
been estopped from prosecuting him for noney |aundering under 18
US C 8 1956 because he had a tax wagering stanp, filed his

monthly 730 tax returns, and paid the governnment a two percent
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exci se tax. It is clear, however, that "the paynent of any tax
i nposed [on ganblers] with respect to any activity shall not exenpt
any person fromany penalty provided by a | aw of the United States
or of any State for engaging in the sane activity." 26 US. C 8§
4422. Furthernore, 18 U. S.C. 8§ 1956 punishes those who | aunder
money derived from "unlawful activity." G ven that Heacock's
activities were "unlawful" wunder state law, ! and given that
Heacock' s est oppel argunent is absolutely rejected by the Internal
Revenue Code, this argunent is meritless.?8
|V

We conclude that the judgnent of conviction in this case

contains no errors. The evidence fully supports Heacock's

conviction under 18 U.S.C. 8 1955 for operating an illegal ganbling

"This activity was a felony under the M ssissippi RICO
statute. See, infra, part (8). Heacock argues that his noney
| aunderi ng convi ction shoul d be overturned because the M ssi ssi pp
RI CO statute, on which the noney | aundering conviction was based,
i's unconstitutional. Heacock argues that the M ssissippi RICO
statute denies due process because it elevates a series of two
m sdenmeanor ganbling offenses to a felony, and he argues that
puni shnment under the M ssissippi R COstatute anobunts to cruel and
unusual puni shnment, given that it involves unnecessary and wanton
infliction of pain, is grossly disproportionate to the severity of
the crime, and is wthout penalogical justification. Thi s
argunent, supported by no authority, on its face is neritless if
not frivol ous.

8Al t hough Heacock argued in his original brief that the
district court violated the rule against double jeopardy in this
case, Heacock abandoned this claimin his reply brief. He insists,
instead, that he intended to pursue this claimas one of vindictive
prosecution. First of all, any issue raised for the first tinme in
the reply brief is waived. US. v. Mller, 952 F.2d 866, 874 (5th
Cr. 1992) Furthernore, there is no evidence to support this claim
of vindictive prosecution.
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busi ness with five or nore persons. Further, we hold that any use
of the United States mail is sufficient to invoke federal
jurisdiction under 18 U.S. C. §8 1952, notwithstanding the intrastate
destination of the mailings in this case. Finally, we conclude
that Heacock's several other points of error have no nerit.
Consequently, we hold that the judgnent of conviction is error-
free, and therefore

AFFI RMED.
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